**RECEIVED**

**Apr 08 2024**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Edgar W. Dickson

---

Civil Action No.: 2020-CP-32-00005

Appellate Case No. 2021-000597

---

R. Kent Porth and Panorama Point, LLC.....Appellants,

v.

Robert P. Wilkins, Jr., RPW Development, Inc.,  
Southern Visions Realty, Inc., and  
Consolidated Multiple Listing Service,  
Inc.,.....Respondents.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE SUPREME COURT**

---

Clarence Davis  
Clarence Davis (SC Bar I.D. #1581)  
CLARENCE DAVIS LAW LLC  
4408 Forest Drive, Suite 300  
Columbia, SC 29206  
(803) 606-6309

## **II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

The Complaint was filed on January 2, 2017. The Respondents did not file an answer to the Complaint pursuant to Rule 8(b); instead on May 6, 2020, the Respondents filed a pre-answer

Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure seeking to dismiss the Complaint based on the assertion that all causes of action were barred by a statute of limitations. On October 9, 2020, the Respondents filed an Amended Motion to Dismiss reasserting the statute of limitations defense and moving to “dismiss the Complaint on the grounds that the facts as stated do not give rise to a cause of action.” A hearing was held in front of Judge Edgar W. Dickson on December 16, 2020, and on February 16, 2021, Judge Dickson entered an Order Granting Motion to Dismiss (the “Order”). On February 26, 2021, the Appellants filed a timely Motion to Reconsider under Rule 59(e). On May 5, 2021 the Lower Court denied Appellants’ Motion to Reconsider and issued an order leaving the Order in effect. On June 4, 2021, the Appellants filed a timely Notice of Intent to Appeal pursuant to Rule 203 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules. The Court of Appeals heard oral arguments on December 5, 2023, and issued its opinion affirming the dismissal of the case on February 14, 2024. The Appellants filed a timely Petition for Rehearing on February 28, 2024. The Court of Appeals denied the Petition for Rehearing on March 8, 2024.

### **III. SUMMARY OF KEY FACTS OF THE CASE**

This case is a complex and voluminous compilation of a large number of separate and distinct causes of action against three separate and distinct Respondents. All three Respondents were operating in separate and distinct fiduciary capacities with respect to all matters which are the subject of this case. This case involves claims under the UTPA which are separate and distinct from the other causes of action, although they arise from many of the same facts. The Complaint alleges that the Respondents engaged in a knowing and intentional scheme of “unfair or deceptive” trade practices that were designed to hide available properties from several thousand competing real estate brokers and agents who were dues paying members of the CMLS by intentionally and

knowingly violating the clear and unambiguous rules of the CMLS, and the CMLS membership agreement which required all of the Respondents' available properties to be posted in the CMLS database within 48 hours and remain in the database at all relevant times. The Appellants discovered through their exhaustive due diligence initiated immediately after the “discovery” event on January 10, 2017, that the available properties had been improperly hidden from competing real estate brokers and agents for approximately 83% of the time the properties were being “marketed” by the Respondents.

As alleged in the Complaint, the Respondents intentionally and knowingly failed to comply with substantially all of the separate and distinct fiduciary disclosure provisions of Title 40, Chapter 57 as an integral step in concealing the Respondents' various acts of self-dealing. **Evidence of extrinsic fraud related to the breaches of the statutorily mandated fiduciary disclosure requirements was discovered by the Appellants a mere 42 days prior to the filing of the Complaint on January 2, 2020,** when attorneys for the Respondents finally provided two examples of fake and fraudulent “listing agreements” (dated May 16, 2011 and November 11, 2012) which were mandated under S.C. Code Ann. §40-57-135(C)(4).

As stated earlier, the Respondents made a pre-answer motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) and have not filed an answer to the Complaint pursuant to Rule 8(b). As such, the Respondents have never denied any of the allegations of the Complaint, including but not limited to (i) that they violated the rules of CMLS by hiding listings from competing brokers and agents, (ii) that they failed to obtain written dual agency agreements required by S.C. Code Ann. §40-57-137(M)(1), (iii) that they failed to disclose prior and/or existing business relationships with multiple purchasers, (iv) that they improperly disclosed the Appellants' “bottom line” price to potential purchasers with whom they had an undisclosed, existing banking relationship in violation

of their fiduciary duty of loyalty, (v) that they failed to obtain listing agreements mandated by S.C. Code Ann. §40-57-135(C)(4); and (vi) that they failed to make the disclosures of applicable law and fiduciary standards mandated by S.C. Code Ann. §40-57-139.

#### **IV. SUMMARY OF THE REASONS FOR THE PETITION**

As set forth in this Petition, the opinion of the Court of Appeals is primarily based on a **pre-answer** factual determination of unpleaded statute of limitations and laches defenses in violation of the appropriate standard of review at this stage of this case, and which denies the Appellants the right to establish a record of and litigate the validity of its numerous separate and distinct claims. As more fully discussed in this Petition, the opinion of the Court of Appeals affirmed the Circuit Court's granting of the pre-answer Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss (i) by relying on prohibited negative inferences against the Appellants drawn from the allegations of the Complaint, (ii) by making and relying on pre-answer factual determinations which have no support in the Record of this case, (iii) by improperly ruling on unpleaded affirmative and equitable defenses of the statute of limitations and laches while failing to properly apply controlling Supreme Court decisions with respect to the application of those two defenses; (iv) by incorrectly ruling that no private right of action is authorized (i) under the statutorily enumerated fiduciary duties owed by licensed real estate brokers and agents to their clients under S.C. Code Ann. §40-57-137(A), or under the applicable fiduciary disclosure and consent mandates of S.C. Code Ann. §§40-57-135, 137 and 139. Additionally, the opinion of the Court of Appeals raises two novel issues of law set forth in subpart B of this Section IV, and failed to rule on multiple issues raised in the Appellants appeal which are identified in subpart C of this Section IV.

Concise statements of the issues presented by this Petition are set forth below. The detailed arguments and the authorities supporting those arguments are set forth in Section V of this Petition.

### **A. The Court of Appeals Opinion is Contrary to Prior Supreme Court Decisions**

1. The opinion of the Court of Appeals violated the appropriate standard of review for a pre-answer Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss by going beyond testing the sufficiency of the Complaint.

2. The opinion of the Court of Appeals failed to determine which of the Appellants' separate and distinct causes of action are legal in nature, to then identify the separate and distinct "discovery date" for each and every one of those separate and distinct causes of action which were determined to be legal in nature.

3. The opinion of the Court of Appeals failed to consider the issue of "fiduciary reliance" when making the premature factual determination of the dates of "discovery" for purposes of applying any applicable statute of limitations.

4. The opinion of the Court of Appeals held that violations of a licensed real estate broker or agent's statutory and common law fiduciary duties, including the specific statutorily mandated fiduciary duties of loyalty and disclosure as expressly set forth in S.C. Code Ann. §§40-57-135, 137 and 139 do not support a private cause of action by a damaged client.

5. The opinion of the Court of Appeals failed to determine which of the various and distinct claims of the Appellants were equitable in nature and therefore not subject to any statute of limitations under the Supreme Court's holding in Thomerson v. Devito, 430 S.C. 246, 844 S.E.2d 378 (S.C. 2020).

6. The opinion of the Court of Appeals failed to abide by the prior decisions of the Supreme Court on the application of the equitable defense of laches.

### **B. The Court of Appeals Opinion Raises Two Novel Questions of Law**

7. This case presents the novel question of law as to whether the equitable doctrine of “unclean hands” may act as an equitable bar to the assertion of a statute of limitations defense or the equitable defense of laches.

8. This case presents a novel question of law as to whether a plaintiff will be charged with “knowledge of the law” applicable to licensed real estate brokers and agents when the Respondents, in their fiduciary roles, were statutorily required to disclose and explain the relevant law pursuant to S.C. Code §40-57-139 and failed to do so.

### **C. The Court of Appeals Failed to Rule on Issues Raised by the Appellants**

Pursuant to Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc., 335 S.C. 598, 518 S.E.2d 591 (1999), the Court of Appeals declined to address the remaining issues raised on appeal by the Appellants in Issues I, IX, X, XI and XII of the Appellants’ appeal briefs which the Appellants contend are indispensable rulings at this pre-answer stage of this case.

## **V. ARGUMENTS**

**1. The opinion of the Court of Appeals violated the appropriate standard of review for a pre-answer Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss by going beyond testing the sufficiency of the Complaint.**

**a. The opinion of the Court of Appeals violated the appropriate standard of review for a pre-answer Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss by drawing negative inferences from the allegations of the Complaint.**

As argued in Issues II and XI of the Appellants’ appeal briefs, at this pre-answer stage of this case, the Respondents’ motion to dismiss should go no further than to test the sufficiency of the Appellants’ Complaint, and should not resolve contests surrounding the facts, the merits of a claim, or the applicability of defenses. Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc. v. Horry County, 426 S.C. 175, 180, 826 S.E.2d 585, 588 (S.C. 2019). “If the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged in the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the Appellant, would entitle the Appellant to

relief on any theory, then the grant of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is improper.” Spence v. Spence, 368 S.C. 106, 116-117, 628 S.E.2d 869 (S.C. 2006).

At this stage of this case, the Respondents have not yet filed a responsive pleading pursuant to Rule 8(b) and have not (i) denied any of the allegations of the Complaint, and/or (ii) have not pleaded any affirmative defenses such as the statute of limitations and/or laches which formed the basis of the Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss.

The express allegations of the Complaint are that the Appellants were not put on inquiry notice of any of the separate and distinct causes of action against the three separate and distinct Respondents until January 10, 2017. There are no allegations in the Complaint which contradict these allegations; and none of which have been denied by the Respondent pursuant to Rule 8(b).

**b. The opinion of the Court of Appeals violated the appropriate standard of review for a pre-answer Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss by making factual determinations on quintessential fact issues such as the date of discovery of each of the separate and distinct causes of action.**

As argued in Issues II and XI of the Appellants’ appeal briefs, at this pre-answer stage in this case, the Respondents have not formally denied the allegations of the Complaint pursuant to Rule 8(b), nor have the Respondents pleaded any facts to support the affirmative defenses of the statute of limitations and laches as required by Rule 8(b). The Supreme Court held in Walbeck v. The I’On Co., 439 S.C. 568, 889 S.E.2d 537 (S.C. 2023) that “the burden of establishing the bar of the statute of limitations rests upon the one interposing it ... and where the testimony is conflicting upon the question, it becomes an issue for the jury to decide.” Walbeck at 581 (citing Brown v. Finger, 240 S.C. 102, 113, 124 S.E.2d 781, 786 (1962)). “Specifically, the question of when a plaintiff discovered, or should have discovered the alleged harm is for the jury to decide because it is an objective question.” Id.

The Complaint contains specific allegations that the Appellants did not have actual or constructive notice of any of the multitude of separate and distinct causes of action which are the subject of this case. Furthermore, the opinion of the Court of Appeals denies the Appellants the right and opportunity to even identify on the record and present the specific facts of each of the separate and distinct fiduciary breaches, the separate and distinct acts of intentional fraud, and the separate and distinct acts of unfair and deceptive trade practices; and denies the Appellants the opportunity to establish the facts on the record of the multiple and different acts of intentional concealment of this wrongful conduct from the Appellants. As an example, the Appellants specifically pleaded at ¶317 of the Complaint that the files produced to the Appellants in their post January 10, 2017 due diligence efforts had been “purged” of relevant documents. The opinion of the Court of Appeals also denies the Appellants the opportunity to develop on the record the steps taken by the Respondents to hide the availability of the property from several thousand competing real estate professionals who were members of the CMLS and their clients who were potential purchasers. The Appellants contend that the question of when a plaintiff discovered or should have discovered the alleged harm from a fiduciary breach, from a fraudulent act of concealment, or from an intentionally concealed unfair or deceptive trade practice is for the trier of fact to determine after the development of a sufficient record in accordance with the S.C. Rules of Civil Procedure (the “Rules”).

**2. The opinion of the Court of Appeals failed to identify a “discovery date” for each and every one of the separate and distinct causes of action which are legal in nature.**

The Appellants contend that in considering a pre-answer Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, unpleaded, affirmative defenses should not be considered. **If** it were appropriate at this pre-answer stage of this case to reach the factual issues related to the “dates of discovery” of the separate and distinct causes of action against each of the three separate and distinct Respondents as alleged in

the Complaint, then the opinion of the Court of Appeals failed to correctly apply existing law on this issue.

Our appellate courts have consistently ruled that knowledge of a prior, distinct breach of fiduciary duty does not trigger the statute of limitations for other unrelated and separately actionable breaches by the same party, and certainly does not trigger the running of the statute of limitations on breaches of fiduciary duty by separate and distinct parties. McAlhany v. Carter, 415 S.C. 54, 66, 781 S.E.2d 105, 112 (S.C.Ct.App. 2015)(knowledge of termite damage was not knowledge of mold damage for purposes of statute of limitations); Holly Woods Ass'n of Owners v. Hiller, 392 S.C. 172, 184-185, 708 S.E.2d 787 (S.C.Ct.App. 2011)(litigation was based on development problems discovered years later than similar problems which plaintiffs had discovered earlier in different areas of the development); see also State v. Ortho-McNeil-Janssen Pharms, Inc., 414 S.C. 33, 78, 777 S.E.2d 176 (S.C. 2015)(discussing the “inequities that would arise if the expiration of the statute of limitations period following a first breach of duty or instance of misconduct were treated as sufficient to bar suit for any subsequent breach or misconduct.”).

The opinion of the Court of Appeals held that to the extent that the Appellants' causes of action are legal in nature, all applicable statutes of limitation were triggered because “the complaint makes clear Appellants were heavily involved in the sale and development of the Property” and that the Complaint “outlines events that occurred more than three years prior to the Appellants filing their complaint that would put them on inquiry notice, if not actual notice, that they may have a cause of action against Respondents.” The opinion of the Court of Appeals makes no effort to identify what factual aspect of being “heavily involved” in this real estate project as owners of the property could have possibly put the Appellants on notice of the Respondents' intentional fiduciary breaches and acts of fraud which were actively and intentionally concealed

from the Appellants. This **material negative inference was improper at this pre-answer stage of this case** and is not supported by the record.

At no point in its per curiam opinion did the Court of Appeals identify a single factual allegation in the Complaint which was related to any of the separate and distinct causes of action; much less identify separately specific facts related to each and every one of the separate and distinct causes of action against each separate Respondent. Furthermore, the opinion of the Court of Appeals never identifies or in any manner discusses the separate and distinct injuries pleaded in the Complaint; nor does the opinion address how each separate and distinct injury could have been discovered prior to January 10, 2017.

As a first example, one of the separate and distinct fiduciary breaches is that Anne Brooks, a licensed agent with Respondent SVR disclosed the Appellants' "bottom line" price in negotiations with a purchaser who was Ms. Brooks' personal mortgage loan officer and who had made business loans to another real estate development in which Ms. Brooks was a principal investor. There are no factual allegations in the Complaint which could possibly have put the Appellants on notice of this claim. This flagrant fiduciary breach of loyalty and disclosure was first discovered by the Appellants when a private email (previously undisclosed to the Appellants) was first produced to the Appellants on August 28, 2018 (a little over 16 months prior to the filing of the Complaint) by the Respondents' prior attorneys.

As a second example, Respondent SVR was hiding the availability of the various lots from competing members of the CMLS in flagrant violation of the rules of the CMLS and the CMLS membership agreement in order to market the lots to potential purchasers who could be represented by SVR. Such dual representation is statutorily prohibited without a properly executed "dual agency" agreement under S.C. Code Ann. §40-57-137(M)(1) which must be obtained from both

the seller and the purchaser (after informed consent is obtained through full and adequate fiduciary disclosure). The Appellants were not members of the CMLS and did not have access to the CMLS database or the confidential CMLS rules prior to making arrangements for such access to perform their necessary due diligence after January 10, 2017. There are no allegations in the Complaint which could possibly form the basis for the Appellants being on notice of these potential claims for breach of fiduciary duty, fraud and unfair trade practices arising from the CMLS rule violations prior to January 10, 2017.

**3. The opinion of the Court of Appeals failed to consider the issue of “fiduciary reliance” when determining the date of “discovery” for purposes of applying any applicable statute of limitations.**

The Appellants contend that in considering a pre-answer Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, unpleaded, affirmative defenses should not be considered. If it were appropriate at this pre-answer stage of this case to reach the factual issues related to the “dates of discovery” of the separate and distinct causes of action against each of the three separate and distinct Respondents, the opinion of the Court of Appeals failed to apply the principles set forth in the Supreme Court’s prior decisions on justifiable reliance on the Respondents’ fiduciary status as licensed real estate brokers and agents, and on Respondent Wilkins’ status as a licensed attorney in South Carolina.

“Real estate agents occupy a fiduciary relationship with their clients and are under a legal obligation as well as a high moral duty to give loyal service to the principal.” Darby v. The Furman Co. Inc., 334 S.C. 343, 347-48, 513 S.E.2d 848 (S.C. 1999). “The duty of an agent to make full disclosure to his principal of **all material facts** relevant to the agency is fundamental to the fiduciary relationship of principal and agent” (emphasis added). Darby at 347-348. The Court of Appeals has previously ruled that “[p]arties in a fiduciary relationship must fully disclose to each other all known information that is significant and material, and when this duty to disclose is

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