THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

May 08 2024

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2021-000597

Circuit Court Case No.: 2020-CP-32-00005

R. Kent Porth and Panorama Point, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

Robert P. Wilkins Jr., RPW Development, Inc.,
Southern Visions Realty, Inc., and
Consolidated Multiple Listing Service, Inc.

Respondents.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Steven R. Kropski (S.C. Bar No: 101441)
David W. Overstreet (S.C. Bar No: 16965)
Ryan M. Gunther (S.C. Bar No: 104141)
Earhart Overstreet LLC
P.O. Box 22528
Charleston, SC 29413

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the Developers' Complaint was untimely.

A. The transactions that are the subject of this litigation occurred between January 2007 and May 2015; over three years prior to the filing of the lawsuit.

Under South Carolina law, the causes of action asserted by Developers are each subject to a three (3) year statute of limitations. *See, Walbeck v. I'On Co.*, 426 S.C. 494, 519, 827 S.E.2d 348, 361 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The three-year statute of limitations, section 15-3-530(5) of the South Carolina Code (2005), applies to [] negligent misrepresentation claims[.]”); *Gibson v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, 383 S.C. 399, 405, 680 S.E.2d 778, 782 (Ct. App. 2009) (three-year limitations period set forth in § 15-3-530(5) applies to negligence actions); *Walsh v. Woods*, 358 S.C. 259, 264, 594 S.E.2d 548, 551 (Ct. App. 2004) (“The statute of limitations for . . . a conversion claim is three (3) years [under § 15-3-530(5).]”); *Dorman v. Campbell*, 331 S.C. 179, 183-84, 500 S.E.2d 786, 788-89 (Ct. App. 1998) (applying three-year statute of limitations set forth in § 15-3-530 to claim for constructive fraud); see also S.C. Code § 15-3-530(7) (“an action for relief on the ground of fraud” is subject to the three-year statute of limitations); S.C. Code § 39-5-150 (an action alleging violation of South Carolina’s Unfair Trade Practices Act must be brought within three years); *Mazloom v. Mazloom*, 382 S.C. 307, 322, 675 S.E.2d 746, 755 (Ct. App. 2009)(Action for breach of fiduciary duty is subject to a three-year statute of limitations); *See*, S.C. Code § 15-3- 530(1) (action for unjust enrichment or quantum meruit, based upon an implied contract or obligation, are subject to a three year statute of limitations).

Having established that each cause of action is subject to a three-year statute of limitations, when applying the allegations of the Complaint on their face, it is clear that all claims brought by the Developers are untimely.

The Complaint alleges that all activity between the Developers and Realtors with respect to the Property took place between 2006 and at the latest December 2016. (R. p. 59). Thus, all activity complained of by Developers occurred more than three years from the filing of the subject lawsuit on January 2, 2020.

Relevant to this appeal, however, the allegations of wrongdoing alleged by Developers occurred far earlier than December 2016. Indeed, to the extent that the Developers allege that the Realtors failed to provide them with a document entitled “listing agreement,” or failed to comply with the statutes governing real estate licensees in South Carolina, this occurred at the outset of the relationship in 2006. (R. p. 44). Therefore, Developers’ attempt to recover compensation they allege was unjustly paid to the Realtors beginning in 2006 was untimely in January 2020, and the Court of Appeals correctly held that Developers’ action was untimely based upon a plain reading of the Complaint.

i. The Developers knew or should have known of the alleged wrongful conduct years before January 2, 2020.

The Developers’ attempt to excuse their untimely Complaint by suggesting that they did not “discover” that the Realtors had breached their fiduciary duty by, inter alia, failing to provide a document specifically entitled “listing agreement” prior to 2017. (App. In. Br. pp. 27-30). To support this assertion, the Developers aver that they were unaware of the relevant South Carolina Statutes, S.C. Code. §§40-57-135(C)(4) and 40-57-139(B), prior to 2017, and thus did not discover that they had causes of action against the Realtors. This argument, however, is without merit.

As the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals correctly held, ignorance of the law does not excuse the Developers' untimely Complaint. (R. pp. 8-9, Appx. p. 494⁵).

It is well established in South Carolina that ignorance of the law does not suspend the accrual of a statute of limitations. *See, Ott v. Maryland Dep't of Pub. Safety and Corrs. Servs.*, 909 F.3d 655, 661 (4th Cir. 2018) ("Ignorance of the law does not justify tolling, even when a party does not have legal representation"); *United States v. Sosa*, 364 F.3d 507, 512 (4th Cir. 2004) (observing ignorance of the law is not a basis for tolling). "Citizens are presumed to know the law and are charged with exercising reasonable care to protect their interests." *American Legion Post 15 v. Horry Cnty.*, 381 S.C. 576, 584, 674 S.E.2d 181, 185 (Ct. App. 2009); *Smothers v. U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co.*, 322 S.C. 207, 210–11, 470 S.E.2d 858, 860 (Ct. App. 1996) ("[e]veryone is presumed to have knowledge of the law and must exercise reasonable care to protect his interests[]").

Here, contrary to the Developers' arguments, the mere fact that they allege they were not expressly aware of a specific statutory section within the South Carolina Code does not mean that they were not aware of the underlying facts that make up the alleged wrong.

As the Court of Appeals noted in its opinion, the allegations in Developers' Complaint establish that they were at least on notice of some harm they allege was caused by the Realtors that could be redressed through legal action no later than May 2013⁶. (R. pp. 1-21). Thus, any allegation that the Developers were not on notice of alleged negligence or alleged improper actions by the Realtors is expressly contradicted by their own Complaint.

⁵ The appendix is not paginated beyond the Record on Appeal. Respondents' counsel made its best effort to determine the page number of documents contained within the appendix.

⁶ The Developers' Complaint alleges that by May 2013, they had discovered "evidence of [Realtors'] negligence, incompetence, and lack of attention in performing their duties. (R. p. 88).

Under South Carolina law, in determining when a cause of action arises under § 15-3-530, courts apply the “discovery rule.” *Rumpf v. Mass. Mut. Life Ins. Co.*, 357 S.C. 386, 394, 593 S.E.2d 183, 187 (Ct. App. 2004). According to this rule, the statute of limitations begins to run “when a cause of action reasonably ought to have been discovered,” or, in other words, “when a plaintiff has notice that he might have a remedy for a harm.” *Id.*

“A party cannot escape the application of [the statute of limitations] by claiming ignorance of existing facts and circumstances, because the law also provides that if such facts and circumstances *could have been known* to the party through the exercise of ordinary care and reasonable diligence, the same result follows. Thus, either actual or constructive knowledge of facts or circumstances indicative of fraud trigger a duty on the part of the aggrieved party to exercise reasonable diligence in investigating and, ultimately, in pursuing a claim arising therefrom.” *Burgess v. Am. Cancer Soc.*, 300 S.C. 182, 185, 386 S.E.2d 798, 799-800 (Ct. App. 1989).

“The exercise of reasonable diligence means that an injured party must act promptly where the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist. The statute of limitations begins to run from this point, and not when advice of counsel is sought, or a full-blown theory of recovery developed.” *Snell v. Columbia Gun Exchange, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 301, 278 S.E.2d 333 (1981); *Brown v. Pearson*, 326 S.C. 409, 483 S.E.2d 477 (Ct.App.1997) (emphasis added).

Here, the statutory sections relied upon by Plaintiffs were public and widely available to anyone of common knowledge, no less a tax lawyer with over 22 years of business and legal experience by 2006. *Rumpf*, 357 S.C. at 394, 593 S.E.2d at 187. It is

inconceivable – even accepting the Developers’ allegations as true – that the Developers were not aware that they compensated the Realtors at closings beginning in 2006. Indeed, the Complaint acknowledges that the Developers knew compensation was paid to the Realtors and likewise knew the amount of the Compensation. (R. pp. 59-68).

In other words, if the Developers believed at the time of these transactions that the Realtors may not have been entitled to compensation they received, or that the Realtors had not performed their services consistent with their standard of care, they could have easily looked into the South Carolina Code and identified the very same allegations asserted in their untimely Complaint. Yet, the Developers waited over 13 years to claim that the compensation agreement with the Realtors was “unlawful.”

Furthermore, the allegations of the Developers’ Complaint itself acknowledge that they had prior notice of alleged potential shortcomings by the Realtors but did not timely pursue a remedy for alleged harm. For instance, the Developers allege that by May 2013, they had “evidence of [Realtors’] negligence, incompetence, and lack of attention in performing their duties for which they received the Development Fee.” (R. pp. 86-88). Likewise, on December 31, 2013, in connection with the sale of “Lot 15,” Developers discovered that Respondent Wilkins allegedly had an undisclosed conflict of interest in the form of a prior business relationship with the purchaser, for whom an alleged unnecessary \$2,500 credit was negotiated by Wilkins. (R. pp. 68-70). Each time, the Developers were on notice of alleged failures or alleged wrongdoings by the Realtors⁷, but did not act promptly or diligently to determine if they had a “right that had been invaded.” *Snell*, 276 S.C. at 303 278 S.E.2d at 334.

⁷ Realtors again deny that they committed any improper acts during the course of their 10 years providing services for Developers.

Here, it is indisputable that the allegations of Developers' Complaint acknowledge being on notice of alleged "negligence" or "incompetence" of the Realtors long before filing of this action in January 2020. Moreover, the Developers' Complaint acknowledges being aware of the *facts* that underlie each of their claims long before filing the Complaint. (R. pp. 27-119). Indeed, in Developers' petition for certiorari, it is noteworthy that not a single fact is alleged to have been unknown by Developers at the time of the sales transactions. They do not allege they were unaware of the compensation paid to Realtors, they do not allege they were not aware of the identity of the buyers, nor do they allege they were unaware of the identity of the agent representing a buyer at the time of the transactions.

Instead, Developers simply allege that they were unaware of a statute that they mistakenly believe provides them a perpetual right to claw-back compensation paid to Realtors, despite a valid written representation agreement. In this respect, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the Developers' action was untimely.

ii. The Developers' claims are each legal, not equitable.

In an effort to circumvent the consequences of their untimely lawsuit, the Developers argue that their claims are equitable in nature, and therefore, are not subject to a statute of limitations. Alternatively, Developers argue that the Court of Appeals failed to analyze each claim and decide whether such claim was equitable. (Petition at p. 7(2)). This argument is contrary to the Court of Appeals opinion. Indeed, the Court of Appeals did not have a need to do a claim-by-claim analysis, as under any theory, Developers' claims were untimely. (Appx. 491-495).

Nonetheless, the claims in this action are legal. Whether an action is legal or equitable is decided by the nature of the claim. *Insurance Fin. Servs., Inc. v. South Carolina Ins. Co.*, 271 S.C. 289, 293, 247 S.E.2d 315, 318 (1978) ("The main purpose of the action should generally be

ascertained from the body of the complaint. . . . However, if necessary, resort may also be had to the prayer for relief and any other facts and circumstances which throw light upon the main purpose of the action.”); *Bell v. Mackey*, 191 S.C. 105, 119–20, 3 S.E.2d 816, 822 (1939) ([t]he nature of the issues raised by the pleadings and character of relief sought under them determines the character of an action as legal or equitable).

Here, the nature of the Developers’ causes of action are legal. Although a request for money damages is not conclusive to establish a cause of action as legal, in the current action, the Developers allege that the Realtors breached a duty they owed to the Developers in their capacity as real estate professionals governed by the S.C. Code § 40-57-5 *et seq.*, which in turn caused the Developers’ money damages. (R. pp. 98-99). Thus, the relief the Developers seek is economic resulting from alleged breaches of a duty or obligation by the Realtors.

To be clear, while the Developers seek a return of the commissions and fees earned by the Realtors, the basis for this relief relies on Developers’ theory that the Realtors did not provide services to the Developers that met their professional standard of care, including the execution of written “listing agreements.”

Thus, although the Developers attempt to characterize this relief as “restitution,” restitution is not automatically classified as an equitable remedy. Indeed, “restitution is a legal remedy when ordered in a case at law and an equitable remedy . . . when ordered in an equity case, and whether it is legal or equitable depends on the basis for [the plaintiff’s] claim’ and the nature of the underlying remedies sought.” *Great-West Life & Annuity Ins. Co. v. Knudson*, 534 U.S. 204, 213, 122 S. Ct. 708, 714, 151 L. Ed. 635, 644 (2002) (internal citation omitted).

Here, whether styled as a cause of action for conversion, restitution, unjust enrichment, breach of fiduciary duty, or any other theory of recovery, the main purpose of an action is to recover

money damages “proximately caused” by the Realtors’ breach of a duty or obligation allegedly owed to the Developers. Thus, each cause of action asserted by the Developers is an action at law, and subject to a three-year statute of limitations.

iii. The Court of Appeals correctly held that, to the extent any claims are equitable, laches also bars the Developers’ action.

As an alternative sustaining ground, to the extent that any claims are deemed to be equitable, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the doctrine of laches barred Developers’ claims.

The equitable doctrine of laches is defined as “neglect for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time, under circumstances affording opportunity for diligence, to do what in law should have been done.” *Hallums v. Hallums*, 296 S.C. 195, 198, 371 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1988). “Under the doctrine of laches, if a party, knowing his rights, does not seasonably assert them, but by unreasonable delay causes his adversary to incur expenses or enter into obligations or otherwise detrimentally change his position, then equity will ordinarily refuse to enforce those rights.” *Chambers of S.C., Inc. v. County Council for Lee County*, 315 S.C. 418, 421, 434 S.E.2d 279, 280 (1993).

Here, the allegations of the Complaint expressly acknowledge that despite notice of the Realtors’ alleged “negligence” and “incompetence,” the Developers did not pursue any action against the Realtors while the Realtors were making the Developers millions of dollars in sales. Rather, only after the Realtors were no longer useful to the Developers did they belatedly pursue this lawsuit⁸. This inequity was specifically noted by the Trial Court in ruling that laches barred the Developers claims, the Trial Court specifically noted:

⁸ The Trial Court and Court of Appeals specifically noted that the Developers continued to accept the benefit (i.e. millions of dollars) of the Realtors work, despite knowledge of alleged

Accepting the allegations of the Complaint to be true, the Complaint alleges that the Plaintiffs were aware of the Defendants alleged improper conduct, yet continued to accept the benefit of their services in the development and sale of the Property.

(R. p. 4).

Indeed, a specific element of laches is the prejudice resulting from the claimant's delay in asserting their rights. *See Chambers of S.C., Inc. v. County Council for Lee County*, 315 S.C. at 421, 434 S.E.2d at 280. In the matter at bar, the Developers' belated lawsuit prejudices realtors in two obvious ways.

First, it is established in the Complaint that compensation earned by the Realtors extends back to January 2007, thirteen years prior to commencement of the lawsuit. (R. p. 59). The last payment was earned by the Realtors in May 2015, approximately five years prior to commencement of the action. (R. p. 63).

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